CASE NO. SC04-1825

LOWER TRIBUNAL NO: 4D03-3268

In The

Supreme Court of Florida

WENDY BETTS, on behalf of herself and all others, similarly situated,

Petitioner,

VS.

McKENZIE CHECK ADVANCE OF FLORIDA, LLC, d/b/a NATIONAL CASH ADVANCE, STEVE A. MCKENZIE and BRENDA G. MCKENZIE

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Mitchell Berger, Esq. Florida Bar No.: 311340 BERGER SINGERMAN

Suite 1100 350 East Las Olas Boulevard

Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 Phone: (954) 525-9900

Fax: (954) 523-2872

Virginia B. Townes, Esquire Florida Bar No.: 361879

AKERMAN, SENTERFITT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Regulatory Scheme

The Money Transmitters Code ("Code") was adopted in Florida in 1994¹. The legislature delegated authority to interpret and enforce the Code to the Department of Banking and Finance (the "Department"). § 560.102, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1994).

In February of 1995, in response to an inquiry from the Florida Check Cashers Association ("FCCA"), the Department interpreted the scope of Chapter 560 to include deferred presentment transactions.² Subsequently, the Department formalized this interpretation by promulgating Florida Administrative Rule 3C-560.803, which permitted licensed check cashers to accept post-dated checks, so long as no fee (in addition to those established by the Code) was charged. Mrs. Betts challenged that rule in an administrative proceeding pursuant to section 120.56, Florida Statutes. The Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") issued a Final Order ruling that the rule was a valid exercise of the Department's delegated legislative authority and did not enlarge, modify or contravene the statutes implemented. [Appendix,

¹The Money Transmitters Code was amended effective October 1, 2001.

²See Betts v. Ace Cash Express, Inc., 827 So. 2d 294, 297 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002)

Tab 4] The ALJ dismissed the challenge, and Mrs. Betts did not appeal that Final Order.

On May 5, 1998, the Department issued an advisory letter to all licensed check cashers in Florida, clarifying its interpretation (and limitation) of its own rule recognizing that deferred presentment transactions were regulated under the Code. [Appendix, Tab 5]

National Cash Advance's Compliance with the Regulatory Scheme

In compliance with the Code, McKenzie Check Advance of Florida, LLC, d/b/a National Check Advance ("National"), was licensed by the Department as a Florida Check Casher on December 31, 1995. [R. 360—Defendants' Exhibit 2] Initially, National had permitted customers to redeem the checks written for deferred presentment transactions by replacing the original check with another check and paying a new fee. At the direction of the Department, National ceased this activity as of the end of December, 1997. [R. 1055-84]

Mrs. Betts's Transaction History with National

Wendy Betts began transacting business with National on August 21, 1997. [R. 1050; Exhibit 1)] By that time, she had done business with four other check cashers, over a period of more than a year. [*Id.*] The records of her transactions, authenticated by Ms. Betts, show that her first transaction

with National consisted of two checks, each for \$115.00. For these checks, she received a total of \$200.00 in the form of a check drawn on National's On August 29, 1997, she redeemed those checks for cash. account. [R. 1036:10—1037:24; 1054-061, Exhibit 4)] On September 4, 1997, Ms. Betts gave National three checks for \$115.00 each and received three \$100.00 checks in exchange. [Id. Exhibit 4] On September 16, Ms. Betts replaced those three checks with three new checks.³ [*Id*. Exhibit 4] September 30, 1997, she gave National a single check for \$338.00. [R. 1041:23—1045:19, Exhibit 5)] After September 16, 1997, Ms. Betts did not write multiple checks on a single transaction day. [Id.] However, National continued to allow her to replace a check with a check through the transaction consummated on December 31, 1997. Thereafter, Mrs. Betts was required to redeem all checks in cash to close each transaction by redeeming her check for cash before she was permitted to commence a new transaction. [*Id*.]

Litigation between Mrs. Betts and National

In September of 1999, Wendy Betts sued National Cash Advance in the United States District Court in the Middle District of Florida, asserting a

³At this time, the Department had promulgated Florida Administrative Rule 3C-560.801, also effective September 24, 1997, which proscribed assessing more that a single verification fee on the same customer on the same day.

claim arising under the federal Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. §1601, et seq. Betts v. McKenzie Check Advance of Florida, LLC, et al., Case No. 99-cv-2828-T-30F (M.D. Fla.). The court dismissed Mrs. Betts's TILA claim with prejudice and found that all other pending claims, including the federal RICO claim, were predominately governed by Florida law. The court dismissed the state-law claims without prejudice.

In April of 2001, Mrs. Betts and co-plaintiff Donna Reuter brought the action giving rise to this appeal in the Circuit Court for the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida against McKenzie Check Advance of Florida, LLC, Steve A. McKenzie, Brenda G. McKenzie and unknown entities and individuals. [R. 1-53] In that action, plaintiffs asserted claims arising out of alleged violations of Chapter 687, Florida's Usury Statute; Chapter 516, Florida's Consumer Finance Act; Chapter 501, Part II, Florida's Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act; and sections 772.101--.104, Florida Statutes, Florida's Civil Remedies for Criminal Practices Act. [*Id.*] The trial court granted defendants' motion to compel Mrs. Reuter to arbitrate her claims. ⁴ [R. 363-65] Thereafter, the court granted summary judgment on behalf of

⁴ Mrs. Reuter appealed that judgment; the Fourth District affirmed the ruling in *Reuter v. McKenzie Check Advance of Florida, LLC*, 825 So. 2d 1070 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002), review pending, SCO 02-2192.

Steve A. McKenzie and Brenda G. McKenzie on the claims asserted by Mrs. Reuter. [R. 728-29] That judgment was not appealed.

Defendants then moved for summary judgment against Mrs. Betts, based on the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal⁵ in *Betts v. Ace Cash Express, Inc.*, 827 So. 2d 294, 297 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002) [Appendix, Tab 2]. The parties briefed the issues and the court entertained oral argument on July 25, 2003. [R. 1003—1193] The trial court granted summary judgment by order dated July 28, 2003. [R. 1356-57] Mrs. Betts appealed the trial court decision to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. [R. 1358-61]

The Fourth District Court of Appeal Reverses the Trial Court

The Fourth District heard oral argument and reversed the summary judgment in National's favor, finding the transactions between Mrs. Betts and National were not within the ambit of the Money Transmitter's Code in effect at the time of the transactions and were therefore usurious loans. *Betts v. McKenzie Check Advance of Florida, LLC*, 879 So. 2d 667 (Fla. 4th DCA

⁵Mrs. Betts's claims against Ace Cash Express, identical to those she asserted against National in the trial court below, had been dismissed with prejudice. In *Ace*, the Fifth District affirmed that dismissal based on statutory construction, deference to agency action, and public policy grounds.

2004) [Appendix, Tab 1]. The Fourth District certified conflict with the Fifth District's ruling in *Ace*.

National sought certiorari review before this court pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). The Court withheld determination of jurisdiction pending briefing on the merits.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The issue before the Court is whether a deferred presentment check cashing transaction conducted pursuant to the directives of the Department issued prior to 2001 was the cashing of a check, a transaction regulated by Chapter 560 and excepted from the prohibitions of Florida's usury statute, or a usurious loan. The plain language of Chapter 560 prior to its amendment in 2001 encompassed deferred presentment transactions as a sub-category of check cashing transactions. "Cashing" was defined as "providing currency for payment instruments." A "check casher" was defined as a person who sells currency in exchange for payment instruments. Deferred presentment transactions were accomplished by a check casher providing currency for a payment instrument. Because the Code did not carve out any exceptions to the definition or dictate any manner in which the check casher was required to process the check after the check casher provided the currency for the check, the Code encompassed deferred presentment transactions.

In 1995, the Department interpreted the Code as encompassing deferred presentment transactions. Thus, the Code authorized check cashers engaged in deferred presentment transactions to charge the fees established by statute and by Department rule. This interpretation was duly promulgated as part of the Rule 3C-560.803, and withstood Mrs. Betts's administrative challenge. The unappealed ruling of the ALJ establishes conclusively that the rule was a lawful exercise of delegated legislative authority.

The Attorney General agreed with the Department's interpretation of the Code, AGO 00-26 (2000), that deferred presentment transactions accomplished in compliance with the Department's interpretation did not constitute usurious loans. In *Ace*, the Fifth District reached the same result.

Only the Fourth District has rejected the Department's interpretation of the Code. It concluded that the Code's failure to expressly identify deferred presentment transactions as regulated activity signals legislative intent to prohibit deferred presentment transactions.

The Fourth District erred in its analysis because it failed to start with the plain language of the Code. It focused on what the Code did not say rather than giving full weight to what the Code did say. This is not an appropriate method of statutory construction. As this Court has noted, the

legislature's failure to expressly prohibit application of a regulatory statute to an activity supports the conclusion such application is appropriate. As the First District Court of Appeal has noted, "Silence is an unreliable source of legislative intent."

The Fourth District misunderstood the effect of the 2001 amendment to the Code. From the amended Code's adoption of a separate regulatory subchapter governing deferred presentment transactions, the Fourth District inferred prior legislative intent to prohibit such transactions. This analysis mistakes the effect of the amendment. Before 2001, deferred presentment transactions were permitted under the Code as a sub-category of check-cashing transactions. After 2001, deferred presentment transactions were still permitted, but certain aspects of those transactions were regulated or limited in a new way. For example, although deferred presentment transactions are still permitted under Florida law, a consumer is prohibited from commencing a new deferred presentment transaction within 24 hours of terminating the prior one.

The Fourth District erred in failing to give proper deference to the Department's interpretation of the statute it was charged with enforcing and interpreting. The Fourth District rejected an authorized agency interpretation it found unpalatable and substituted its own preferred

interpretation. However, whether the reviewing court agrees with the agency's interpretation is not the standard of review; it is whether the agency's interpretation is clearly erroneous and departs from the essential requirements of law. Its interpretations were neither clearly erroneous nor departures from the essential requirements of law. The Fourth District overreached its function as a reviewing tribunal in substituting its judgment for that of the agency.

The Fourth District also overstepped its bounds by invalidating the Department's properly promulgated administrative rules. Rule 3C-560.803 withstood Mrs. Betts's challenge to its validity. The Fourth District failed to give the DOAH Final Order dismissing the challenge preclusive effect and, in a proceeding to which the Department was not a party, substituted its judgment for that of the Department. In so doing, the Fourth District ignored the constitutional separation of powers and the doctrines of exhaustion of administrative remedies and of primary jurisdiction.

Finally, the Fourth District ignored the statutory safe-harbor the legislature adopted in the Code, section 560.105, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1994). National and all other licensed check cashers were entitled to rely in good faith on Rule 3C-560.803 and the Department's interpretation of that rule. The Fourth District's rejection of the Department's rules and its regulatory

authority exposes licensed check cashers that scrupulously followed Department directives to annihilating liability. This outcome destroys faith in Florida's regulatory agencies and chills Florida's ability to attract and retain business.

The Fourth District's decision is wrong as a matter of law and dangerous as a matter of public policy. It must be overturned.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. CHAPTER 560, FLORIDA STATUTES, AS ENACTED IN 1994, ENCOMPASSED DEFERRED PRESENTMENT TRANSACTIONS.

In 1993, a check casher who demanded \$20 as a charge for cashing a \$200 check would have violated Florida's usury statute. The fee charged for advancing cash until the check could clear through the payment system was within the statutory definition of interest and—assuming the check cleared in a week or less—yielded an interest rate of approximately 575% per annum.

After 1994, that same transaction would have been entirely lawful, so long as the check casher had registered under Part III of the newly enacted Money Transmitters Code.

There is and can be no dispute that Chapter 560, Florida Statutes (1994), created a carve-out from Florida's usury law. By legislative

⁶ § 687.01-.13, Fla. Stat. (1993).

mandate, the "charge" exacted for the advance of money was classified as a fee rather than interest and registered check cashers were entitled to charge up to an additional five dollars as a verification fee. Notwithstanding the fact that the same or an even greater cost was imposed on the consumer by the new statute, the legislature had determined that the social utility of the ability to cash checks warranted an exemption from the usury statute.

This analysis is compelled by both principles of statutory construction and by the plain language of the statute. In statutory construction, if two statutes are in conflict, the more recent prevails over the earlier⁷ and the specific controls over the general⁸.

The controversy before the Court in this case is not whether Chapter 560 as enacted in 1994 created an exemption from the usury statute. The sole issue on which the Fourth District and the Fifth District disagreed is whether deferred presentment transactions conducted prior to the 2001 amendment to Chapter 560 were check-cashing transactions within the scope

_

⁷Palm Beach County Canvassing Bd. v. Harris, 772 So. 2d 1273, 1287 (Fla. 2000) ("When two statutes are in conflict, the more recently enacted statute controls the older statute"); *McKendry v. State*, 641 So. 2d 45, 46 (Fla. 1994) ("when two statutes are in conflict, the later promulgated statute should prevail as the last expression of legislative intent"); *Palm Harb or Special Fire Control District v. Kelly*, 516 So. 2d 249, 250 (Fla. 1987)(Legislature is presumed to be aware of prior enactments; court is to harmonize conflicts by affording each statute its appropriate sphere of application.).

⁸ State ex rel. Johnson v. Vizzini, 227 So. 2d 205 (Fla. 1969); Harley v. Board of Public Instruction of Duval County, 103 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 1958).

of the Code. The definitions the legislature employed in the 1994 Code permit no doubt that deferred presentment transactions were a category of check-cashing transaction encompassed by the Code.

A. The Plain Language of the Money Transmitters Code Includes Deferred Presentment Transactions.

In 1994, the Florida Legislature adopted the Money Transmitters Code. § 560.101, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1994). The Code defined a "money transmitter" as "any person located in or doing business in this state who acts as a payment instrument seller, foreign currency exchanger, check casher, or funds transmitter." § 560.103(10), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1994). A "check casher" was defined as "a person who, for compensation, sells currency in exchange for payment instruments received, except travelers checks and foreign-drawn payment instruments." § 560.103(3), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1994). A "payment instrument" under the Code was "a check, draft, warrant, money order, whether or not negotiable," § 560.103(14), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1994). "Sell" was defined to mean "to sell, provide or deliver." § 560.103(19), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1994).

Part III of the Code addressed Check Cashing and Foreign Currency Exchange. § 560.301, *et seq.*, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1994). That Part required registration of all persons who "engage in, or in any manner advertise engagement in, the business of cashing payment instruments." § 560.303(1),

Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1994). There were only two exemptions from the regulation of check cashers—authorized vendors of persons registered under the Code and acting within the scope of the registrant's authority and persons whose cashing of payment instruments was incidental to the retail sale of goods and services. § 560.304, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1994).

Part III of the Code also added a definition of "cashing"—"providing currency for payment instruments, except for travelers checks and foreign-drawn payment instruments." § 560.302(1), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1994). The Code thus required every business that provided currency in exchange for a payment instrument to register as a check casher pursuant to Part III. Any exchange of currency for a payment instrument was the cashing of a check, regulated by the Code.

A deferred presentment is a sub-category of check-cashing as the legislature defines the cashing of checks. The customer presents a payment instrument—his check—and receives currency in exchange. In a deferred presentment check-cashing transaction, the check casher retains the check for an agreed-to period. At the end of that period, the customer may redeem the check so that it is never deposited. If the customer does not redeem the check, the check casher submits it for payment by the customer's bank.

Nothing in Part III of the 1994 enactment of Chapter 560 limited the definition of "check casher" or "cashing" so as to exclude deferred presentment transactions or any other variant of check-cashing. In fact, the plain language of section 560.303 signaled legislative intent for the Code to have broad regulatory effect over all forms of check-cashing.

B. The Department's Construction of the Code to Include Deferred Presentment Transactions Applied the Plain Meaning of the Code.

The legislature delegated to the Department authority to interpret and enforce the statute and to promulgate rules implementing the statute. Shortly after the Code's enactment, the FCCA asked the Department to inform the check-cashing industry whether deferred presentment transactions were within the Code's regulatory ambit. The Department issued a letter dated February 24, 1995 (the "FCCA Letter") stating that the plain language of the Code encompassed deferred presentment transactions.

It is the position of the FCCA that member stores may cash checks for customers and defer the deposit of those checks for a reasonable period of time, mutually agreed upon between the store and the customer, *provided* that the fee charged for cashing these checks *shall not* exceed the statutory fee

⁹ The legislature granted specific authority to "issue and publish rules, orders, and declaratory statements, disseminate information, and otherwise exercise its discretion to effectuate the purposes, policies and provisions of the code and to interpret and implement the provisions of the code." § 560.105, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1994).

allowable for the specific type of check cashed. The service will be referred to as deferred deposit.

Since Chapter 560, Florida Statutes, does not explicitly prohibit the concept of deferred deposits and since all other provisions of Chapter 560, Florida Statutes, would be adhered to, I see no reason to object to your offering of the above described services. Again, this analysis is based upon the fact that the deferred deposit service will be offered and managed pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 560, Florida Statutes, and specifically within the fee caps contained within Section 560.309(4), Florida Statutes.

See Ace, 827 So. at 297 (italics in opinion).

This interpretation is consistent with the plain language of the Code. Part III of the Code imposed only one statutory limitation on the cashing of a check; it limited the fees the check casher could charge. § 560.309, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1994). The legislature did not require the check casher to deposit the check. The legislature did not prohibit a check casher from holding the check and allowing the customer to redeem it for cash or with another check.

The Department formalized its interpretation and further exercised its delegated legislative authority by promulgating Rule 3C-560.803, Florida Administrative Code, (the "Rule") in 1997. The Rule provided that a check casher could, but was not required to, accept a postdated check and charge the fees permitted in Section 560.309, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1994). By enacting a rule permitting the acceptance of post-dated checks, the

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