IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: SC04-1825 Lower Tribunal No.: 4D03-3268

MCKENZIE CHECK ADVANCE OF FLORIDA, LLC d/b/a/ NATIONAL CASH ADVANCE, STEVE A. MCKENZIE and BRENDA G. MCKENZIE,

Petitioners,

v.

WENDY BETTS, on behalf of herself and those similarly situated,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

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

McKenzie, 879 So.2d at 672.

This distinction between true check cashing and deferred presentment loans is extremely significant. As the Fourth District recognized, and as NCA does not dispute, deferred presentment transactions provide short term loans to individuals who do not have sufficient funds in their checking accounts to cash a check. A deferred presentment customer is not seeking currency in exchange for a check; a deferred presentment customer is seeking an advance of funds.

What constitutes check cashing under Florida law is clearly defined by the Code. In sum, check cashing is defined as providing currency in exchange for a payment instrument. Both NCA and the <u>Ace</u> court find it noteworthy that there is nothing in chapter 560 requiring a check casher to deposit a customer's check or prohibiting a check casher from holding a check. This is true–the Code as originally enacted did not address lending money. Rather, the lending of money is addressed, as discussed in Section IV, <u>infra</u>, by Chapters 516 and 687.

B. The history of the Code further demonstrates that it was not intended to authorize deferred presentment transactions.

NCA and its supporting amici have adopted a veneer that NCA and its fellow payday lenders are simply good corporate citizens who at all times sought to act in conformance with the law.⁶ The truth is not so benign. In reality, the

⁶ Moreover, the two amici also fail to fully disclose their true interest in this appeal. Although both amici profess an interest in "fairness" (FSCS Brief at 20; CFSA Brief at 1), both amici fail to disclose the personal stake their officers and directors have in this appeal. Fla. R. App. P. 9.370(b). Many of the officers and directors of the two organizations are affiliated with defendants, or are themselves defendants, in identical pending Florida lawsuits challenging the propriety of their payday lending deferred presentment transactions. FSCS President Paul Hauser and Treasurer Marshall Davis are associated with The Check Cashing Store, the defendant in <u>Cardegna v. The Check Cashing Store,</u> (continued...)

payday lenders and their mouthpiece, the Florida Check Cashers Association⁷ ("FCCA"), used the 1994 enactment of chapter 560 as a Trojan Horse to engage in usurious lending through deferred presentment transactions and rollovers that are well beyond the scope of true check cashing as authorized by the Code.

The Legislature in originally passing chapter 560 followed the recommendations contained in the Final Report of the Comptroller Gerald Lewis Money Transmitter Task Force. (Respondent's Appendix Tab 2) The report was compiled following seven meetings held by the Task Force between August 1993 and January 1994. (Respondent's Appendix, Tab 2 at 4) A review of the Task Force Report demonstrates that the Task Force was concerned with money laundering by the then-unregulated check cashing industry. The report is

⁷ The FCCA is now known as The Financial Service Centers of Florida, Inc.("FSCS"), and has filed an amicus brief in this appeal.

⁶ (...continued)

<u>Inc.</u>, No. CL00-5099AG (Fla. 15th Circuit Court). (Respondent's Appendix Tab 4) FSCS Regional Vice President Eric Norrington is affiliated with Ace America's Cash Express, affiliate to the defendant in <u>Reuter v. Ace Cash</u> <u>Express, Inc.</u>, No. 50-2004CA008165 (Fla. 15th Circuit Court). <u>Id.</u> FSCS Secretary Jim Frauenberg is associated with Buckeye d/b/a CheckSmart, respondent in <u>Cardegna v. Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc.</u>, No. SC02-2161. <u>Id.</u> CFSA board member and immediate past president Billy Webster is a defendant in <u>Reuter v. Advance America</u>, No. 2004-CA-008164 (Fla. 15th Circuit Court). (Respondent's Appendix Tab 5)

silent about the practice of payday lending through deferred presentment transactions.

When one examines the transcripts of the meetings of the Task Force it is readily apparent why the Task Force believed it unnecessary to address payday lending in their Final Report: Task Force member Joseph Doyle⁸, representing the check cashing industry in his capacity as President of the FCCA, assured the Task Force on numerous occasions that legislation regulating check cashers would not open the door to payday lending. For example:

- The FCCA would report a member check casher to law enforcement if that check casher was engaging in usurious lending. Respondent's Appendix Tab 3, September 2, 1993 Transcript, 61:19-21.
- Doyle describes the procedure of effectuating payday loans through deferred presentment and goes on to state that the FCCA is opposed to the practice because it is usurious lending, which the FCCA would report to law enforcement. <u>Id.</u> at 168:1-22.
- Following testimony of Prof. Caskey of Swarthmore College, Doyle criticizes payday lending, concurs with Caskey's critical comments

⁸ Doyle is also the current Chairman of amici FSCS, successor to the FCCA. (Respondent's Appendix Tab 4)

concerning the practice, and reiterates "The payday loans, we've talked about that in previous meetings. We're totally against that in Florida. Anything we can do to make it an illegal activity we're totally supportive of. . . . if they're going to make loans, they should get a license to do loans, period." Respondent's Appendix Tab 3, October 5, 1993 Transcript 226:10-18.

Having been assured by the check cashers' representative on the Task Force that regulation of check cashers would not open the door to payday loans, the Task Force proceeded to recommend the enactment of legislation that eventually became the Money Transmitters' Code. Not surprisingly, the resulting legislation did not address the subject of payday lending and focused instead on the licensing and regulation of check cashers. Nevertheless, the NCA and other check cashers promptly began to engage in payday lending on the flimsy basis that deferred presentment loans were permissible in accordance with the check cashing provisions of the Code.⁹

⁹ Realizing that they were on, at best, shaky ground, the check cashers unsuccessfully sought legislation in 1996 that would have allowed for deferred presentment transactions subject to a "fee" in the amount of 15% of a check's face amount. Florida House of Representatives, 1996 HB 1059.

II. RULE 3C-560.803 DID NOT AUTHORIZE DEFERRED PRESENTMENT TRANSACTIONS UNDER CHAPTER 560, AND IF ONE CONCLUDES IT DID SO THEN THE RULE IS INVALID.

Despite the fact that none of Mrs. Betts' checks at issue in this case were postdated, NCA contends that the Rule authorizing check cashers to accept postdated checks authorized deferred presentment payday loans. NCA also relies on two letters authored by employees of the Department of Banking and Finance to support its contention that the Code somehow opened the door to deferred presentment payday lending in the state of Florida. Although NCA quotes liberally from the ALJ opinion and the two letters, a careful reading of each demonstrates that neither the opinion nor the letters provided a legitimate basis for NCA to engage in deferred presentment loans or rollovers.

A. The ALJ order specifically held that the Rule did not authorize check cashers to engage in deferred presentment transactions.

Although the ALJ concluded that the enactment of Rule 3C-560.803 was valid, the ALJ also concluded that the Rule *did not authorize deferred presentment transactions*: "The Department has no rule, order, or declaratory statement authorizing deferred deposit transactions or repeated, consecutive deferred presentment transactions by a registered check casher." ALJ Order ¶

22.¹⁰ "The Rule does not establish the fees <u>nor does it authorize 'rollover</u> <u>transactions' or 'payday loans.</u>" ALJ Order ¶ 81 (emphasis supplied). Instead, the ALJ Order simply concluded that a "check, regardless of whether it is postdated, falls within the definition of a 'payment instrument' as defined in Section 560.103(14)."

The ALJ order also sheds light on the original rule-making process. When the Rule was originally adopted, the Department cited Florida Statute 655.86 as the implementing law.¹¹ This statute provides that a bank is authorized to pay a postdated check even before the date on the check unless the maker of the check has provided prior notice to the office or branch of the financial institution that the check is postdated and should not be paid until the date on the check. ALJ Order ¶ 38. In other words, postdated checks are payable on demand. Recognizing that this was inadequate justification for adoption of the Rule, on the eve of the administrative hearing the Department added additional citations to the

¹⁰ The ALJ Order is at Tab 4 of Petitioners' Appendix.

¹¹ The DBF Rule Hearing where the Rule was adopted was chaired by Doug Johnson, author of the May 5, 1998 "Letter of Advice." The hearing transcript is 47 pages long. (Respondent's Appendix Tab 6) The full extent of discussion of Rule 3C-560.803 consisted of the following: "MR. JOHNSON: Section 803, moving right along, relates to postdated checks. MR. GIMBEL: I think you need that. I think that's very important. I'm glad to see the Department has finally taken that view. MR. JOHNSON: Section 804 . . ." Respondent's Appendix Tab 6, 46:9-14.

portions of the Code defining "payment instrument" to the law implemented section of the Rule. ALJ Order ¶ 39-40, 59-68.

Under this analysis, this Court need not conclude, as the Fourth District did, that the Rule authorized deferred presentment loans. Accordingly, this Court may conclude that deferred presentment transactions are loans outside the scope of chapter 560 without invalidating the Rule. Doing so would harmonize Chapters 560 and 687, and would recognize that the Code governs true check cashing, while the Usury Statute governs deferred presentment loans. Furthermore, if one concludes that the Rule authorized deferred presentment, then the Fourth District correctly concluded that the Rule exceeded the Department's authority under Chapter 560 and therefore is invalid. <u>McKenzie</u>, 879 So.2d at 673-74.

B. The informal letters from Department employees were not binding and in any event expressly stated that rollovers were not authorized by the Code.

NCA relies heavily on a letter from Department of Banking and Finance staff attorney Jeffrey Jones dated February 24, 1995, to support its contention that deferred presentment transactions were permissible.¹² In a portion of the letter not quoted by NCA the letter stated:

Finally, please be advised that this letter is not a rule, declaratory statement or final order. As such, the Department of Banking and Finance does not consider itself bound by this informal opinion. Should you desire a binding opinion of law, I would suggest that you request a declaratory statement as provided pursuant to Section 120.565, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 3-6, Florida Administrative Code.

(FSCF Appendix Tab A) Neither NCA, nor the FCCA, nor any licensed check casher, ever sought a declaratory statement as suggested. This is not surprising because there is simply nothing in chapter 560 that would support a conclusion that the enactment of chapter 560 authorized deferred presentment loans. There is simply no statutory authority supporting the enactment of a rule authorizing deferred presentment.

III. NCA DOES NOT DISPUTE THAT ROLLOVERS WERE NEVER AUTHORIZED.

Even if one assumes that licensed check cashers are permitted to delay the presentment of a check for two weeks, the vast majority of Betts' transactions with NCA were rollovers that clearly do not fall within the definition of a check cashing as set forth in the relevant statutes and regulations. Section 560.302(1)

¹² A copy of the letter is contained in the Appendix to the amicus brief of The Financial Service Centers of Florida at Tab A.

provides that ?cashing means providing currency for payment instruments." § 560.302(1), Fla. Stat. (2001). Further, Florida Administrative Code Rule 3C-560.804(1) states that ?payment shall be made immediately in currency for every payment instrument received by a person engaging in the activities of a check casher." Fla. Admin. Code R. 3C-560.804(1).

The overwhelming majority of ?fees" paid by Betts to NCA were in return for NCA's agreement to extend her obligation to pay the principal of her loan, not in exchange for NCA's providing currency in exchange for a check. Betts repeatedly rolled over her debt with NCA every two weeks. In her transactions through 1997 she did so by paying a "fee" and providing a new check. In return, Betts was granted an additional two weeks to repay the loan amount in cash, or through presentment of her new check at the end of the two-week period. On none of these occasions did NCA provide "currency" to Betts in exchange for her checks, as required by Chapter 560 and its attendant regulations. "When the controlling law directs how a thing shall be done that is, in effect, a prohibition against its being done in any other way." Alsop v. Pierce, 19 So. 2d 799, 805-06 (Fla. 1944). Because no currency was provided to Betts in exchange for her check, these Type II rollovers did not fit the definition of check cashing under chapter 560.

On other occasions, Betts was permitted to "buy back" her check with cash equal to the face amount of the check. This act may fit the definition of a "payment instrument sale" under chapter 560, since NCA was selling Betts back her own check in exchange for cash, but does not fit within the Code's definition of check cashing. On these occasions Betts would immediately roll over her debt by writing a new check to NCA in exchange for cash minus a 10% "fee." The net result would be that Betts would leave the premises having paid a 10% "fee" for an additional two weeks to pay NCA the face amount of her check.

Regardless of the propriety of deferred presentment transactions, there is no dispute that rollover transactions have always been prohibited under Florida law. The clear pronouncements of both the Department of Banking and Finance and the Attorney General–relied on by NCA as justification for its loan activities–squarely prohibit licensed check cashers from extending, renewing, or continuing a deferred presentment transaction by accepting an additional fee in exchange for extending a customer's indebtedness for an additional time period. Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 00-26 (2000); "Letter of Advice," Respondents' Appendix Tab 5.

NCA does not dispute that it engaged in numerous of these Type II rollovers with Mrs. Betts. Pet. Br. at 48 n. 25. NCA unconvincingly attempts to

justify its rollovers by contending that the Department's disapproval of rollovers was some sort of unanticipated surprise. This argument stretches credibility. Rollovers, as detailed above, clearly fall outside the definition of "check cashing" as set forth in the Code and regulations.

As for the Attorney General opinion concerning payday lending, it should be noted that the Attorney General concluded that the state usury laws do apply to payday loans accomplished via deferred presentment transactions. Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 00-26 (2000). Moreover, the Attorney General further stated that "Nothing in Chapter 560, Florida Statutes, however, recognizes that such arrangements may be deferred from presentment in order to be extended, renewed, or continued in any manner with the imposition of additional fees." <u>Id.</u> The Attorney General, like the Department, thus concluded that rollovers were not authorized by the Code.

Further, the Attorney General's pronouncement that the usury laws apply to deferred presentment transactions does not square with the apparent conclusion of the Attorney General that a one-time, non-rollover deferred presentment transaction is permissible. Even though the opinion acknowledges that nothing in the text or legislative history of chapter 560 permits rollovers, nothing in the text or legislative history of chapter 560 suggests that deferred presentment transactions are permissible, either. Accordingly, the Code should not be interpreted to have provided an exception to the usury laws. "Courts must give effect to all statutory provisions and construe related statutory provisions in harmony with one another." <u>M.W. v. Davis</u>, 756 So. 2d 90, 101 (Fla. 2000) <u>quoting Forsyth v. Longboat Key Beach Erosion Control Dist.</u>, 604 So. 2d 452, 455 (Fla. 1992). Moreover, the legislature is presumed to be aware of existing statutes and case law when it enacts legislation. <u>Wood v. Fraser</u>, 677 So. 2d 15, 18 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996).

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